RECEIVED

Oct 30 2020

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Horry County

**The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
South Carolina Court of Appeals' Appellate Case No. 2017-001846**

Opinion No. 2020-UP-244

THE STATE,

Appellant,

v.

JAVON D. GIBBS,

Respondent.

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

THE HONORABLE JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
(843) 915-9608

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
ID No. 4806

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Assuming that a search warrant is required for law enforcement to acquire five days of historical cell site location information (CSLI) from a defendant's phone after the Supreme Court's decision in *Carpenter v. United States*, did the Court of Appeals commit clear error by affirming suppression of the CSLI for Gibbs' cell phone where the search warrant affidavit, as supplemented by the information provided to the magistrate, clearly supports the magistrate's finding of probable cause to issue the warrant.
- II. Did the Court of Appeals clearly err by finding that Gibbs had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the State's collection of only five days of CSLI, such that acquiring his CSLI was a search under *Carpenter* that required a warrant.
- III. Did the lower courts commit clear error in finding that Inv. Martin did not act in good faith reliance on the search warrant that was issued, since a search warrant was not required to obtain the CSLI at the time the State obtained this evidence and the magistrate's order satisfied the requirements of the Stored Communications Act?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February of 2014, the Horry County Grand Jury indicted Respondent Javon D. Gibbs (Gibbs) for murder (2015-GS-26-00847) and kidnapping (2015-GS-26-00848). *R.* 81-84. Gibbs filed a pretrial "Motion to Suppress Phone Records." *R.* 85-88. On August 30, 2017, the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., held a hearing on Gibbs's motion at the Horry County Courthouse. *R.* 3-50. Following the hearing, Judge Hyman orally granted Gibbs's motion and suppressed the cell site location information (CSLI). *R.* 79. He filed an Order formally granting the motion to suppress on September 5, 2017. *R.* 101-02.

The State timely served and filed a notice of appeal. On November 17, 2017, the State moved the South Carolina Court of Appeals to hold the appeal in abeyance pending the United

States Supreme Court's decision in *Carpenter v. United States*, 819 F.3d 880 (6th Cir. 2016) *rev'd and remanded*, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018) because of the potential impact the Supreme Court's decision could have on the appeal. *App. 37-41*. Gibbs opposed the State's motion (*App. 42-44*) and the Court of Appeals denied the State's motion on January 9, 2019. *App. 45*.

An oral argument in the case was originally scheduled for April 15, 2020. *App. 46-47*. However, on March 31, 2020, the Court of Appeals notified the parties that: "Although the argument cannot be conducted at this time, a panel of the Court has studied the case and is preparing to decide the matter on the briefs and record." The Court's letter gave the parties 15 days within which to request an oral argument. *App. 48-49*. The undersigned requested an oral argument via email on April 1, 2020 (*App. 50-51*), but no argument was held.

On August 19, 2020, the Court of Appeals filed an unpublished *per curiam* opinion affirming the suppression of the search warrant for Gibbs' CSLI. *State v. Javon D. Gibbs*, 2020-UP-244 (S.C. Ct.App., Aug. 19, 2020). *App. 1-13*. The State filed a Petition for Rehearing with Suggestion Rehearing En Banc on September 3, 2020. *App. 14-34*. The Court of Appeals filed an Order denying the State's Petition on October 6, 2020. *App. 35-36*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "In appeals of pretrial rulings, [the appellate court] is 'bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law.'" *Reed v. Becka*, 333 S.C. 676, 684, 511 S.E.2d 396, 400 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting *State v. Amerson*, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993)). A trial judge's ruling on a matter "will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." *State v. Sheldon*, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585,

585-586 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial judge's conclusions lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *State v. Elders*, 386 S.C. 474, 480, 688 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2010).

ARGUMENTS

I. Assuming *arguendo* that a search warrant is required for law enforcement to acquire five days of historical cell site location information (CSLI) from a defendant's phone after the Supreme Court's decision in *Carpenter v. United States*, the Court of Appeals committed clear error by affirming suppression of the CSLI for Gibbs' cell phone where the search warrant affidavit, as supplemented by the information provided to the magistrate, clearly supports the magistrate's finding of probable cause to issue the warrant.

In *Carpenter v. United States*, 138 S.Ct. 2206, 2217 n. 3 (2018), a sharply divided United States Supreme Court held for the very first time that individuals have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the record of their physical movements captured by historical CSLI and that acquisition of more than seven days of CSLI constitutes a "search" under the Fourth Amendment. Assuming *arguendo* that a search warrant is required for law enforcement to acquire five days of CSLI from a defendant's phone,¹ the State submits that the Court of Appeals committed clear error by affirming suppression of the (CSLI for Gibbs' cell phone where the search warrant affidavit, as supplemented by the information provided to the magistrate, clearly supports the magistrate's finding of probable cause to issue the warrant.

Gibbs filed a number of pre-trial motions including his "Motion to Suppress Phone Records, which he filed on August 22, 2017. *R.* 85-88. The trial judge heard the motions on Wednesday, August 30, 2017. *R.* 1-80. Gibbs argued at the hearing that "there is a guaranteed expectation of privacy guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment [in] cell phone records." *R.* 7. He

¹ *Carpenter* was a 5-4 decision and each dissenter filed a separate opinion. *Carpenter* left open whether gathering six days or less of CSLI requires a warrant and, as discussed in Argument II, the State submits that one was not required here.

later cited to *United States v. Maynard*, 615 F.3d 544 (D.C.Cir. 2010), *aff'd in part sub nom.*, *United States v. Jones*, 565 U.S. 400 (2012). *R. 46*. He also argued that the investigator's affidavit supporting the magistrate's probable cause finding was not sufficient. *R. p. 7-8*.

The assertion of a reasonable expectation of privacy was a clearly erroneous statement of law at that time because no state appellate court had ever ruled to this effect and, as late as mid-2014, "no circuit court of appeals had yet held the Fourth Amendment applicable to CSLI data. *See United States v. Pembroke*, 876 F.3d 812, 823 (6th Cir. 2017) (finding that as of mid-2014, no Supreme Court, Sixth Circuit, or out-of-Circuit precedent extended Fourth Amendment protections against warrantless seizures of CSLI to criminal defendants), *vacated on other grds, Calhoun v. United States*, 139 S. Ct. 137 (2018). *See also Carpenter*, 138 S.Ct. at 2235-36 (Thomas, J., dissenting) ("The Court concludes that, although the records are not Carpenter's, the Government must get a warrant because Carpenter had a reasonable "expectation of privacy" in the location information that they reveal. I agree with Justice KENNEDY, Justice ALITO, Justice GORSUCH, and every Court of Appeals to consider the question that this is not the best reading of our precedents"). The trial judge, however, accepted this erroneous statement of law in granting the motion to suppress. *R. 102, ¶ 5*. The State submits that this then-clear legal error infected the remainder of his Order, including his finding that there was no probable cause to issue the search warrant for Gibbs' CSLI. *R. 101-02, ¶¶2-6*.

The affidavit supporting the search warrant in this case read as follows:

On 8/27/13 the mother of Zachary Malinowski reported him *missing* from 2918 Hwy 905 in the Conway section of Horry County. Family and friends were interviewed including a close girlfriend and the most recent contact they had with him was 8/25/13 by phone. This is not normal for him and *it is believed something happened to him*. A subsequent search of the victim's phone showed activity up to 0424 where the phone completely shut off in the Aynor area. His vehicle was located several days later completely burned and other property was located on the side of different roadways. As of 1 1/5/13 the victim or his body have not been

located. The phone number to be searched belongs to *Javon Gibbs*[,] who has been identified by many as being involved with his disappearance based on drug related incidents before his disappearance. The male denied the allegations and identified that he did not want to provide a DNA sample or take a polygraph to exclude him. *It is my belief that searching the records of Javon Gibbs will provide information regarding any contact with the victim and his whereabouts during the date and time the victim went missing.*

R. 97.

Contrary to the trial judge's ruling and the Court of Appeals' decision, *Gibbs*, at 7-11, when this affidavit in support of the warrant is read in conjunction with Inv. Jonathan Martin's supplementary testimony at the hearing on the motion to suppress, there was sufficient evidence for the magistrate to conclude that probable cause existed for the issuance of the warrant.

In South Carolina, search warrants may be issued "only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate ... establishing the grounds for the warrant." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (2003); *see also State v. McKnight*, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987). An affidavit supporting a warrant must set forth particular facts and circumstances underlying the existence of probable cause to allow the magistrate to make an independent evaluation of probable cause. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006). In determining whether there is probable cause to issue a warrant, however, the Fourth Amendment permits a magistrate to consider sworn testimony supplementing the affidavit in support of the warrant. *See, e.g., State v. Sachs*, 264 S.C. 541, 216 S.E.2d 501 (1975); *State v. Johnson*, 302 S.C. 243, 395 S.E.2d 167 (1990); *United States v. Clyburn*, 24 F.3d 613, 617 (4th Cir. 1994); *Frazier v. Roberts*, 441 F.2d 1224, 1226 (8th Cir. 1971).

"[P]robable cause is a flexible, common-sense standard." *Texas v. Brown*, 460 U.S. 730, 741 (1983). It is a "practical, nontechnical conception" that deals with "the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act," *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 231 (1983) (quoting *Brinegar v. United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 175-

76 (1949)). It is “a fluid concept—turning on the *assessment of probabilities* in particular factual contexts—not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules,” *id.* at 232 (emphasis added). Also, the determination must be made under the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* at 230-31, 233, 238.

The Supreme Court explained in *Gates* that:

As early as *Locke v. United States*, 7 Cranch. 339, 348, 3 L.Ed. 364 (1813), Chief Justice Marshall observed, in a closely related context, that “the term ‘probable cause,’ according to its usual acceptation, means less than evidence which would justify condemnation.... It imports a seizure made under circumstances which warrant suspicion.” More recently, we said that “the *quanta* ... of proof” appropriate in ordinary judicial proceedings are inapplicable to the decision to issue a warrant. *Brinegar, supra*, 338 U.S., at 173, 69 S.Ct., at 1309. Finely-tuned standards such as proof beyond a reasonable doubt or by a preponderance of the evidence, useful in formal trials, have no place in the magistrate’s decision. While an effort to fix some general, numerically precise degree of certainty corresponding to “probable cause” may not be helpful, it is clear that “only the probability, and not a prima facie showing, of criminal activity is the standard of probable cause.” [*Spinelli v. United States*, 393 U.S. 410, 419, 89 S.Ct. 584, 590 (1969)]. See Model Code of Pre-Arrestment Procedure § 210.1(7) (Proposed Off. Draft 1972); W. LaFave, *Search and Seizure*, § 3.2(3) (1978).

We also have recognized that affidavits “are normally drafted by nonlawyers in the midst and haste of a criminal investigation. Technical requirements of elaborate specificity once exacted under common law pleading have no proper place in this area.” [*United States v. Ventresca*, 380 U.S. 102, 108, 85 S.Ct. 741, 745 (1965)]. Likewise, search and arrest warrants long have been issued by persons who are neither lawyers nor judges, and who certainly do not remain abreast of each judicial refinement of the nature of “probable cause.” See *Shadwick v. City of Tampa*, 407 U.S. 345, 348-350, 92 S.Ct. 2119, 2121–2122, 32 L.Ed.2d 783 (1972). The rigorous inquiry into the *Spinelli* prongs and the complex superstructure of evidentiary and analytical rules that some have seen implicit in our *Spinelli* decision, cannot be reconciled with the fact that many warrants are—quite properly, *ibid.*—issued on the basis of nontechnical, common-sense judgments of laymen applying a standard less demanding than those used in more formal legal proceedings. Likewise, given the informal, often hurried context in which it must be applied, the “built-in subtleties,” *Stanley v. State*, 19 Md.App. 507, 313 A.2d 847, 860 (Md.App.1974), of the “two-pronged test” are particularly unlikely to assist magistrates in determining probable cause.

Gates, 462 U.S. at 235-36, 103 S.Ct. at 2330-31.

Importantly, the probable cause standard does *not* demand any showing the officer's belief was correct or more likely true than false. *Brown*, 460 U.S. at 742. *See also Kaley v. United States*, 571 U.S. 320, 338 (2014) (recognizing probable cause "is not a high bar: It requires only the 'kind of 'fair probability' on which 'reasonable and prudent [people,] not legal technicians, act'"") (quoting *Florida v. Harris*, 568 U.S. 237, 244 (2013) (quoting *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 231, 238)). The proper inquiry is not whether the reviewing judge believes that there was probable cause to issue the warrant. The proper inquiry is "whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for his conclusion that probable cause existed." *United States v. Williams*, 974 F.2d 480, 481 (4th Cir. 1992).

Applying this standard to the search warrant for Gibbs' CSLI, there was probable cause for the magistrate to issue the warrant. Inv. Martin had information from multiple witnesses of prior altercations between the victim and the defendant stemming from a drug deal gone bad and from an incident where the defendant was arrested on weapons charges. *R. 12; 18; 26*. The affidavit explains that the victim had been missing since August 26, 2013, which was two months before the search warrant was sought. *R. 97*. After he had interviewed friends and family, Inv. Martin concluded that it was not normal for the victim to disappear and be out of touch by cellular phone. *R. 97*. The victim's phone was searched, which revealed that the phone was completely shut off and all activity stopped at 4:24 a.m. on August 26, 2013. *R. 97*. The investigation began to show that foul play was involved in the victim's disappearance. The affidavit explains that the victim's vehicle was located several days completely burned. *R. 97*. Other property belonging to the victim was located on the side of the road. *R. 97*. This gave investigators reason to believe that the victim was kidnapped and/or possibly murdered after he could not be located. Finally, the affidavit reveals

that Gibbs had been “identified by many as being involved with [the victim’s] disappearance based on drug related incidents before his disappearance.” *R. 97.*

Inv. Martin testified at the suppression hearing and was able to supplement the record to explain how the investigation progressed and zeroed in on Gibbs and Christopher Brown. And what he told the magistrate. He testified that he received statements from “five different people who were close acquaintances to the victim.” This information revealed that the victim was involved in a drug transaction with Gibbs and Brown. Among those coming forward with this information were Jamel Fleming, the last person to see the victim alive, and Marcus Smith, a “close acquaintance” who saw the victim on the Saturday night before his Sunday night disappearance. Fleming was questioned twice and passed a polygraph. *R. 12-14.* The victim’s girlfriend, Samantha, Hopkins said the victim had given them \$600.00 and they never gave him the drugs. *R. 13.*

Smith was interviewed within the first week of the investigation. He confirmed the drug transaction and said that Gibbs and Brown had animosity toward the victim because Brown blamed the victim for his arrest on a stolen gun charge. Brown thought that the victim had “ratted on [him].” *R. 15-17.* Smith likewise provided information about another drug transaction the victim had with Gibbs and Brown that had “gone bad” in Aynor, South Carolina. Words were “exchanged back and forth,” with the victim saying negative things about Brown to Gibbs, such as Gibbs should stay away from Brown, even though Gibbs and Brown were very close friends. Ultimately, Smith went in the victim’s stead to have a fist fight with the two men and he won. *R. 17-18; 25-26.*²

² This incident was corroborated by the victim’s good friend Shakeem Fore. *R. 18.* Also, the magistrate did not ask for the names of these acquaintances. *R. 24.*

This was one of twenty-six warrants issued over four months in connection with the investigation. A separate warrant for the victim's Facebook account showed the victim's statements to Gibbs about the drug deal that went bad. This post also demonstrated that there was bad blood between the victim and Gibbs and Brown. There was a lot of interest in this case at the time of the investigation and it is Inv. Martin's practice to discuss what is occurring in a case with a magistrate, and he did this with the magistrate who issued the warrant for Gibbs' CSLI, Judge Butler. So, he provided in Facebook comments to Judge Butler but could not remember the date he had done so. *R. 25-26; 28-30; 34.*³

Brown's phone records, including the CSLI, were obtained first. *R. 21-22; 30.* Brown was in communication with Gibbs leading up to the time the victim was last seen and when his cell phone was shut off in the early morning hours. Indeed, "Brown's phone was placed right at [the victim's] house at the time ... we believe that [the victim] went missing." *R. 25-27; 30.* In response to the trial judge's queries, Inv. Martin testified that the magistrate knew the following: (1) the nature of Gibbs' and Brown's continuing relationship, (2) the relationship that the victim had with Gibbs and Brown, including that there was "bad blood" between them, (3) the Facebook exchange between the victim and Gibbs, (4) that Brown and Gibbs were having a conversation at the time the victim disappeared, (5) that Brown's cell phone pinged off a tower near the victim's residence at about the time police theorize the victim went missing, and (6) that Gibbs denied being near the victim's residence or even in Aynor at the time the victim disappeared. *R. 25-27.*

³ The Fourth Amendment does not prohibit a warrant from cross referencing other documents. *Groh v. Ramirez*, 540 U.S. 551, 554 (2004).

Inv. Martin interviewed Gibbs at his bonding agent's office.⁴ Gibbs gave a statement denying that he was at the victim's residence on the night the victim disappeared and claiming that he had never even been to the victim's residence. *R. 17*. "The [reason for obtaining a] search was not just to find out if he was the one with [the victim], but also to clear him that had he not been the one with [the victim] or around [the victim's] residence, you know, that would've also provided the information. So, it was more to confirm where he was based on his statements." *R. 17*.⁵

Both the Court of Appeals and the trial judge found that there was no probable cause for the warrant in large part because the affidavit fails to specify the precise crime which police theorize that Gibbs had committed. *See Gibbs*, at 8-9, *R. 101*, ¶ 2. This was a clearly erroneous legal finding because *Gates* does not require an affidavit to include the specific crime alleged to have been committed. Rather, "only a *probability* of criminal conduct need be shown." *United States v. Koonce*, 485 F.2d 374, 380 (8th Cir. 1973) (quoting *McCreary v. Sigler*, 406 F.2d 1264, 1268 (8th Cir.1969)); *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 235 ("[I]t is clear that 'only the probability, and not a prima facie showing, of criminal activity is the standard of probable cause'" (quoting *Spinelli*, 393 U.S. at 419). *See also District of Columbia v. Wesby*, 138 S.Ct. 577, 586 (2018). The State submits this standard was met.

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