STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 18 2020**

Appeal from Horry County

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2020-UP-244 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed August 19, 2020)

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

JAVON DION GIBBS,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001846

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

*The CSLI that can be obtained by authorities over a five-day period is of the sort that led the majority in Carpenter to conclude that individuals have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the information.* The Court reasoned that a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy in CSLI because the nature of CSLI is especially revealing. *Carpenter*, 138 S. Ct. at 2219. "[T]ime-stamped data provides an intimate window into a person's life, revealing not only his particular movements, but through them his 'familial, political, professional, religious, and sexual associations.'" *Id.* at 2217 (quoting *United States v. Jones*, 565 U.S. 400, 415 (2012) (Sotomayor, J., concurring)); *see id.* at 2218 ("A cell phone faithfully follows its owner beyond public thoroughfares and into private residences, doctor's offices, political headquarters, and other potentially revealing locales."). **Allowing CSLI collection for a period of five days does not adequately curtail the Court's privacy concerns so as to render the five-day CSLI collection not a search pursuant to the Fourth Amendment.** *See id.* Therefore, we hold that the CSLI collection in this matter constitutes a search.

App. 6-7. (emphasis added).

There respectfully is no sound reason to grant certiorari to review this conclusion of the Court of Appeals. As respondent argued here in the Court of Appeals, and the Supreme Court reiterated in Carpenter: Cell site records hold for many Americans “the privacies of life.” Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 403 (2014). That was one major reason the Supreme Court in Carpenter rejected the government’s position that CSLI records should be blindly treated under the “third-party doctrine” stemming from the notion that where an individual knowingly shares information with another that he or she has a reduced or forfeited expectation of privacy. See United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435 (1976) (financial records held by a bank); Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 734 (1979). The same cannot be said of CSLI records as is said of bank records because that would be tantamount to holding that because an individual has his or her cell phone turned on, they have knowingly shared all of the details of their present and past whereabouts with law enforcement.

The Supreme Court noted in Carpenter that “The [Fourth] Amendment seeks to secure “the privacies of life” against “arbitrary power.” Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 630, 6 S.Ct. 524, 29 L.Ed. 746 (1886). Second, and relatedly, that a central aim of the Framers was “to place obstacles in the way of a too permeating police surveillance.” United States v. Di Re, 332 U.S. 581, 595, 68 S.Ct. 222, 92 L.Ed. 210 (1948).” Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. at 2214.

Thus, the issue of a “legitimate expectation of privacy” in respondent’s cell phone records and the CSLI documents are now settled in respondent’s favor for Fourth Amendment purposes. However, the state here continues to argue that a warrant was not required in this case, and that there was no expectation of privacy in these documents. Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 17.

However, as the Supreme Court observed in Carpenter: “[H]istorical cell-site records present even greater privacy concerns than the GPS monitoring of a vehicle we considered in *Jones*.<sup>2</sup> Unlike the bugged container in Knotts<sup>3</sup> or the car in Jones, a cell phone—almost a “feature of human anatomy,” Riley, 573 U.S., at \_\_\_, 134 S.Ct., at 2484—tracks nearly exactly the movements of its owner. While individuals regularly leave their vehicles, they compulsively carry cell phones with them all the time. A cell phone faithfully follows its owner beyond public thoroughfares and into private residences, doctor's offices, political headquarters, and other potentially revealing locales. See *id.*, at \_\_\_, 134 S.Ct., at 2490 (noting that “nearly three-quarters of smart phone users report being within five feet of their phones most of the time, with 12% admitting that they even use their phones in the shower”); contrast Cardwell v. Lewis, 417 U.S. 583, 590, 94 S.Ct. 2464, 41 L.Ed.2d 325 (1974) (plurality opinion) (“A car has little capacity for escaping public scrutiny.”). Accordingly, when the Government tracks the location of a cell phone it achieves near perfect surveillance, as if it had attached an ankle monitor to the phone's user.” Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct at 2218.

Following Carpenter, there is most respectfully no need for this Court to grant certiorari to tinker with clear very recent Supreme Court precedent because the state has “buyer’s remorse” that it guessed wrong on how the United States Supreme Court would rule on this issue when it originally petitioned the Court of Appeals to hold this appeal in abeyance until Carpenter was decided. Carpenter has now been decided, and a warrant, supported by probable cause, was required to obtain respondent’s cell phone information because respondent had a legitimate expectation of privacy in these records, and the Court of Appeals, as addressed further below, did

---

<sup>2</sup> United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. 400 (2012).

<sup>3</sup> United States v. Knotts, 460 U.S. 276 (1983).

not err in finding a lack of good faith given the extremely sloppy negligent search warrant affidavit the circuit court correctly found horribly wanting in this case.

3.

The Court of Appeals and the trial court did not commit clear error in finding that Investigator Martin did not act in good faith reliance on the search warrant that was issued, where there was not probable cause for the issuance of the search warrant, particularly where the vague allegations did not even state what, if any, crime respondent allegedly committed, and it did not assert any belief in the reliability of its sources.

Defense counsel correctly argued any assertion of a good faith exception pursuant to Leon<sup>4</sup> in this case was specious. As seen, the trial judge correctly observed he did not understand “how in the world” anyone in this case could assert that this affidavit provided probable cause for the issuance of the search warrant. Again, the affidavit did not assert what, if any, crime respondent may have committed, and it made no assertion of the reliability of the “sources” of its information.<sup>5</sup> Counsel correctly noted that the sloppiness of the state’s affidavit raised a Franks v. Delaware<sup>6</sup> issue of the deliberate falsehood or reckless disregard for the truth in obtaining the search warrant in this case.

Yet the state argues that, despite the many problems with the search warrant affidavit in this case, “it is clear that the State acted in good faith and suppression was erroneous.” Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 24. The state makes a vague assertion that the Court of Appeals’ unpublished opinion in this regard was inconsistent with another unpublished *per curiam* opinion

---

<sup>4</sup> United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984).

<sup>5</sup> As defense counsel again correctly argued the state’s investigation seemed to reveal if there was any probable cause for a warrant it might more accurately have been for Chris Brown or Marcus Smith.

<sup>6</sup> Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978).

of the Court of Appeals. Petition for writ of certiorari at 24, n. 15. It is unclear that even if that is true how it somehow warrants certiorari in this case.

As the Court of Appeals correctly decided here:

[N]either the affidavit nor oral testimony provided the magistrate with a substantial basis for determining the existence of probable cause because the affidavit did not allege that a crime was committed—nor did it allege that police believed Gibbs committed any crime. *See* § 17-1 3-140 (stating, in part, a search warrant may be issued to search for and seize property "tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense"); Baccus, 367 S.C. at 52, 625 S.E.2d at 222 (finding an affidavit in support of a search warrant defective because the affidavit failed to set forth any facts as to why police believed the defendant committed the charged crime). Further, Detective Martin admittedly did not attest to the witnesses' veracity and reliability or the basis of their knowledge. Therefore, the good faith exception would not apply. Weston, 329 S.C. at 293, 494 S.E.2d at 804 (finding the good faith exception did not apply in a case in which the warrant affidavit failed to set forth any facts as to why police believed the defendant committed the crime); Johnson, 302 S.C. at 248, 395 S.E.2d at 170 ("[R]eviewing courts will not defer to a warrant based on an affidavit that does not 'provide the magistrate with a substantial basis for determining the existence of probable cause.'" (quoting Leon, 468 U.S. at 915)).

Alternatively, the State argues that the good faith exception applies because the law at the time of the collection of the CSLI was that a warrant was not required. The State cites United States v. Chavez for its assertion. 894 F.3d 593, 608 (4th Cir. 2018). Chavez held that "[w]hile Carpenter is obviously controlling going forward, it can have no effect on [the defendant's] case." 894 F.3d at 608. "The exclusionary rule's 'sole purpose ... is to deter future Fourth Amendment violations." *Id.* (quoting Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 236-37 (2011)). "Thus, when investigators 'act with an objectively "reasonable good-faith belief" that their conduct is lawful,' the exclusionary rule will not apply." *Id.* The Chavez court held because investigators reasonably relied on the law at the time, which allowed them to obtain CSLI via court order instead of a warrant, they acted in good faith. *Id.*

We believe the current matter is easily distinguishable from Chavez and similar cases applying the good faith exception to warrantless CSLI acquisitions. In that line of cases, the law

enforcement official(s) relied on either voluntary disclosures from the wireless providers or a court order, each pursuant to the Stored Communications Act (SCA), instead of a search warrant. The SCA contains a provision allowing government officials to obtain court orders compelling wireless providers to disclose CSLI and related data. § 2703(c)(1)(B). A court is allowed to issue the order upon a showing of "specific and articulable facts showing that there are reasonable grounds to believe that the contents of a wire or electronic communication, or the records or other information sought, are relevant and material to an ongoing criminal investigation." § 2703(d) (emphasis added). This is a lesser showing than the probable cause required for a search warrant. See id; United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) ("[P]robable cause means 'a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found.'" (quoting Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. at 238)). In Chavez, government officials relied on section 2703—and its reduced burden—to procure the defendant's wireless records. 894 F.3d at 608.

Here, there is no question that HCPD relied on a *search warrant* as opposed to voluntary disclosures from a wireless provider—because that provider explicitly denied HCPD's request for voluntary disclosures. Furthermore, HCPD obtained a warrant and not an order pursuant to the SCA. HCPD could not have reasonably relied on a law or procedure that it did not use. See Chavez 894 F.3d at 608 (holding that the good faith exception applied because investigators reasonably relied on a provision of the Stored Communications Act for its warrantless search). Accordingly, the court did not err by finding that the good faith exception did not apply in this matter.

App. 12-13.

As to the “reliability” of the sources supplying information, the Court of Appeals correctly wrote:

[T]he affidavit fails to address "the 'veracity' and 'basis of knowledge' of persons supplying hearsay information." See Bellamy, 336 S.C. at 143, 519 S.E.2d at 348 (quoting Gates, 462 U.S. at 238). The affidavit fails to identify the "many" individuals who identified Gibbs as being involved in Victim's disappearance, fails to give any details regarding the "drug related incidents," and makes no showing of the reliability of these individuals. See State v. Philpot, 317 S.C. 458, 461, 454 S.E.2d 905, 907 (Ct. App. 1995) (finding an affidavit insufficient when it failed to attest to a

confidential informant's reliability). Looking at the four corners of the affidavit, there is no information from which a court could conclude the witnesses were reliable.

The affidavit reads in relevant part: The phone number to be searched belongs to Javon Gibbs[,] *who has been identified by many as being involved with [Victim's] disappearance based on drug related incidents before his disappearance.* The male denied the allegations and identified that he did not want to provide a DNA sample or take a polygraph to exclude him. *It is my belief that searching the records of Javon Gibbs will provide information regarding any contact with [Victim] and his whereabouts during the date and time [Victim] went missing.* (emphases by the Court). See *State v. Robinson*, 415 S.C. 600, 605, 785 S.E.2d 355, 357–58 (2016) (finding the contents of a search warrant's affidavit sufficient on its face to provide the court a substantial basis to believe the confidential informant was reliable because the affidavit provided that: (1) the HCPD, (2) had a confidential informant, (3) who bought cocaine, (4) from the subject home, and (5) the informant had made previous purchases from the home).

App. 9-10.

As to the oral supplementary testimony, the Court of Appeals noted, *inter alia*, that “the State conceded at the hearing that it was difficult to say exactly what was told to the magistrate . . . . When asked by the court what crime the affidavit was offered as probable cause of, the State responded, all of its probable cause to [Victim's] disappearance.” The State then added: “[Detective Martin]'s looking at it as a kidnapping, possible murder.” Further, Detective Martin testified that he was seeking the CSLI “not just to find out if [Gibbs] was the one with [Victim], **but also to clear him [by demonstrating] that he had not been the one with [Victim] or around [Victim]'s residence.**” Based on the statements provided by Detective Martin, *HCPD did not appear to have a strong belief that Gibbs was involved in a crime at the time the warrant was issued.* The fact that the State responded that the affidavit was meant *to establish probable cause for Victim's 'disappearance'* provides support for Gibbs's assertion that the State had many theories regarding what happened to Victim and was ‘fishing’ for information.” App. 10-11.

The Court of Appeals also pointed out that “Detective Martin conceded that he did not go through reliability of the witnesses with the magistrate.” App. 10.

Further, in addition to their being no indicia of reliability to the hearsay:

“[T]here was no testimony that Gibbs made any threats to harm Victim or that any of the witnesses had actual knowledge that Gibbs was involved in either the murder or kidnapping of Victim. Accordingly, the oral testimony was not enough to overcome the insufficiency of the warrant affidavit. Therefore, the evidence does not show that the magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 50, 625 S.E.2d at 221 (“The duty of the reviewing court is to ensure the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed.”); Dupree, 354 S.C. at 684, 583 S.E.2d at 441 (“In determining the validity of the warrant, a reviewing court may consider only information brought to the magistrate's attention.”).

App. 11.

The well-reasoned ruling by the circuit court judge in this case, was subsequently vindicated by the United States Supreme Court’s opinion in Carpenter v. United States, as our state Court of Appeals recognized and therefore it properly affirmed the circuit court judge. Certiorari most respectfully is simply not warranted in this case.

**CONCLUSION**

The petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.